FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/5/2018 4:38 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

96603-6

NO.

(Court of Appeals No. 77309-7)

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAFE ACQUISITION, LLC, a Washington corporation; LUCIDY, LLC, a Washington corporation; and SCOTT FONTAINE, an individual,,

Plaintiffs – Appellants,

v.

GF PROTECTION INC., d/b/a Guardian Fall Protection, a Washington corporation,

Defendant – Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel F. Johnson, WSBA No. 27848 Cynthia J. Heidelberg, WSBA No. 44121 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND, PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3670 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone (206) 652-8660 Counsel for Plaintiffs-Petitioners

INTRODUCTION
ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT7
A. The Court of Appeals Applied the Wrong Standards of Review
1. The standard of review is de novo
2. When the trial court holds no hearing and makes no factual findings, the appellate court makes its own findings or remands for more evidence.
3. The trial court abused its discretion by misapplying the law
B. This Court Should Take Review to Clarify the Scope of Corporate Attorney-Client Privilege After Newman
Individuals with a financial interest in the corporate client should be able to communicate confidentially with its attorneys about the corporation's legal disputes
2. Under <i>Newman</i> and <i>Upjohn</i> , Bullard and Vasquez are constituents and agents of SAFE and covered by the attorney-client privilege
C. The Court Should Confirm the Work Product Doctrine Applies to Communications Between Counsel and Witnesses
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

1-800 Contacts, Inc. v. Lens. Com, Inc., 722 F.3d 1229 (10th Cir. 2013)
Binks Mfg. Co. v. Nat'l Presto Indus., Inc., 709 F.2d 1109 (7th Cir. 1983)
Cedar Grove Composting v. City of Marysville, 188 Wn.2d 695, 354 P.3d 249 (2015)
DE Techs., Inc. v. Dell, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 62580 (W.D. Va. Sep. 1, 2006)
Dix v. ICT Grp., Inc., 160 Wash. 2d 826, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007)
Douglas NW v. Bill O'Brien & Sons Constr., 64 Wn. App. 661, 828 P. 2d 565 (1992)
Gerber v. Down East Cmty. Hosp., 266 F.R.D. 29 (D. Me. 2010)
Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495 (1947)
<i>In re Bieter</i> , 16 F.3d 929 (8th Cir. 1994)
In re Convergent Technologies Second Half 1984 Sec. Litig., 122 F.R.D. 555 (N.D. Cal. 1988)17
In re Detention of West, 171 Wn.2d 383, P.3d 302 (2011)
In re Firestorm, 129 Wn.2d 130, 916 P.2d 411 (1996)
Keystone v. Xerox, 152 Wn.2d 171, 94 P.3d 945 (2004)
Kittitas County v. Allphin, 190 Wn.2d 691, 416 P.3d 1232 (2018)
Leahy v. State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co., 3 Wn. App. 613, 418 P.3d 175 (2018)
Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998) passim

Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012)
Morgan v. Briney, 200 Wn. App. 380, 403 P.3d 86 (2017)
Morgan v. City of Fed. Way, 166 Wn.2d 747, 213 P.3d 596 (2009)
Newman v. Highland Sch. Dist. No. 203, 186 Wn.2d 769, 381 P.3d 1188 (2015)
Smith v. Hansen, Hansen & Johnson, 63 Wn. App. 355, 818 P.2d 1127 (1991)
Smith v. King, 106 Wn.2d 443, 722 P.2d 796 (1986)
Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co., 162 Wn.2d 716, 174 P.3d 60 (2007)
Taplett v. Khela, 60 Wn. App. 751, 807 P.2d 885 (1991)
United States v. 22.80 Acres of Land, 107 F.R.D. 20 (N.D. Cal. 1985)
United States v. Bauer, 132 F.3d 504 (9th Cir. 1997)
United States v. Graf, 610 F.3d 1148 (9th Cir. 2010)
Upjohn, Co. v. United States, 449 U.S. 383 (1981)passin
Wright v. Group Health, 103 Wn.2d 192, 691 P.2d 564 (1984) 1
Youngs v. PeaceHealth, 179 Wn.2d 645, 316 P.3d 1035 (2014)
Other Authorities
Restatement (Third) of Agency § 101 (2006)
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)

I. INTRODUCTION

The petitioners are Plaintiffs Scott Fontaine and his two companies, SAFE Acquisition, LLC, and Lucidy, LLC. They sued respondent, Defendant GF Protection, Inc. (GFP), for breach of two license agreements by failing to market Plaintiffs' patented safety products. The trial court granted GFP's motion to compel Plaintiffs to divulge their counsel's email communications with Mr. Fontaine's partners in SAFE and Lucidy, Brock Bullard and Mike Vasquez. On November 5, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed in part.

Plaintiffs ask this Court to take review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of this court. It applied the wrong standard of review and presumed factual findings against the Plaintiffs that the trial court never made, depriving the Plaintiffs of any meaningful review.

Under the proper standards, the trial court's order should be reversed. First, the Court should clarify its decision in *Newman v*. *Highland Sch. Dist. No. 203*, 186 Wn.2d 769, 381 P.3d 1188 (2015), which affirmed Washington's embrace of the "functional approach" to corporate attorney-client privilege founded on *Upjohn*, *Co. v. United States*, 449 U.S. 383 (1981), but held that the privilege generally did not apply to former employees. The Court should take review in this case to

confirm that counsel communications with "constituents and agents" of a corporation (whether employees or not) are privileged if made in the course of counsel's representation of the corporation. Second, because Bullard and Vasquez had financial interests in the Plaintiff companies, their communications with counsel should be privileged. And third, even if they were only witnesses, counsel's communications with them during the litigation about the litigation categorically qualify as work product.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. What is the proper standard of review on the application of attorneyclient privilege and the work product doctrine where there was no hearing and the court made no findings of fact?
- 2. When a trial court fails to make findings of fact in such a decision, should the appellate courts assume facts against the party seeking protection?
- 3. When a person with a financial interest in the corporate client speaks to its counsel about matters in litigation, are those communications privileged?
- 4. Under the "functional analysis" of corporate attorney-client privilege, are counsel's communications with individuals who are agents of the corporate client protected, whether they are paid employees or not?
- 5. Do email communications that litigation counsel has with witnesses about the matters in litigation categorically qualify as "documents prepared in anticipation of litigation" under CR 26(b)(4)?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Scott Fontaine is a carpenter who has invented several construction products, including a unique safety anchor for roofers called the

HitchClip. CP 2. In about 2009, he enlisted a friend who was a roofer, Mike Vasquez, to help him promote the HitchClip. CP 53. In 2013, Fontaine founded SAFE in order to license the HitchClip and other products to GFP, then the third largest distributor of safety equipment in the world. He granted GFP the exclusive license to manufacture, market, and sell his products, in exchange for royalties. CP 4.

At that point, Vasquez "worked full time on behalf of SAFE as our Sales Manager." CP 208. Mr. Vasquez participated in management decisions, and "was our lead on everything that had to do with sales efforts." CP 208-09. Fontaine and Vasquez helped GFP promote the HitchClip, and in late 2013, GFP contracted with Vasquez to train and assist its sales team to promote the HitchClip. *See* CP 7, 372.

In 2014, another friend of Fontaine's, Brock Bullard, began working with him, serving as engineer and General Manager. CP 55, 209. Mr. Bullard is trained as an engineer, and did all of Plaintiffs' shop drawings and acted as liaison to GFP regarding manufacturing. CP 56, 209. When, after a year of slow sales, SAFE and GFP discussed amending the license agreements to let SAFE sell HitchClips directly, "Brock was the main person responsible for negotiations with [GFP] over [the]

¹ Six of the products relate to the HitchClip and five others relate to a pump-staging system he invented to allow workers to "stage" their equipment on scaffolding. CP 1. The latter were patented and licensed to GFP by Fontaine's other company, Lucidy. CP 2.

amendment." CP 209; *see also* CP 180-81 (privilege log showing Bullard's communications with Plaintiffs' counsel D. Ellenhorn about amendments). Mr. Bullard spoke on behalf of SAFE; Mr. Fontaine "was often not even directly involved with these negotiations." CP 209.

In 2014, GFP's owner asked Fontaine who were the "stockholders" of his companies, and Fontaine identified Bullard and Vasquez. CP 58.

GFP relied heavily on both Bullard and Vasquez throughout the first 18 months of the parties' relationship, often communicating directly to one of them, not Fontaine, about critical issues. *See, e.g.*, CP 184-85 (negotiations over contract amendments with Bullard). GFP's owner referred to Bullard and Vasquez as Fontaine's "partners," and GFP's President considered Fontaine, Bullard, and Vasquez to be "the SAFE management team." CP 60, 62.

During this period, Fontaine was not able to pay Vasquez or Bullard for their work on behalf of SAFE, but promised them—verbally at first—that they would have a stake in his companies. CP 136-37. Mr. Bullard soon began to press Fontaine for specifics, and on July 21, 2014, he signed two letters confirming that each of them have 10% ownership in his companies. CP 209-10, 136-37, 152, 154; *see also* CP 124, 127.

By 2015, the relationship between SAFE and GFP was failing.

GFP was not marketing or selling 11 of the 12 products it licensed from

Plaintiffs at all, and sales of the HitchClip were dismal. *See* CP 6-10. Plaintiffs attempted to terminate or modify the contracts but GFP refused. *See* CP 9-10. Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit in June 2016. CP 34.

Because of Bullard's and Vasquez's involvement, Plaintiffs' lawyers had to communicate with them in order to get information necessary to advise and represent the companies. *See e.g.* CP 180-81 (Bullard emails with attorney David Ellenhorn about amending license agreements). Once litigation commenced, Plaintiffs' litigation counsel communicated frequently with Bullard and Vasquez in order to advise and represent Plaintiffs. CP 120, 215. As Mr. Fontaine explained (CP 210):

Because of Brock's and Mike's extensive involvement in operating and representing SAFE and Lucidy, when I have retained lawyers for SAFE and Lucidy, I have needed them to rely on Brock and Mike from time to time for information about what SAFE and Lucidy did and to advise Brock and Mike from time to time on what SAFE and Lucidy should do.

In discovery, the parties agreed that no privileged documents created on or after April 10, 2015 would have to be logged because that is the date Plaintiffs' counsel first threatened litigation. CP 46. In August 2016, GFP requested production of all "communications" between Plaintiffs and either Vasquez or Bullard regarding any of the products Plaintiffs licensed to GFP, including communications about this lawsuit. CP 18. Plaintiffs produced thousands of documents collected directly from

the personal computers of Bullard and Vasquez, including all communications, except with Plaintiffs' counsel. CP 18, 95-96.

The dispute here began almost a year later, after Mr. Vasquez's deposition, about two months before the scheduled trial. Mr. Vasquez testified that he did not believe he had any ownership stake in Fontaine's companies because he had not yet received any money from them. CP 131. He recalled signing a document about future ownership, but did not think he had a current interest in Fontaine's companies. CP 133.³

Despite Fontaine's testimony to the contrary and its understanding that Bullard and Vasquez were Fontaine's partners, GFP moved to compel Plaintiffs' counsel's communications with them. CP 17. The trial court granted the motion in an order containing no factual findings, stating only that Plaintiffs had failed to prove the two were "speaking agents" or "within the zone of privilege." CP 107-08.

Plaintiffs moved for reconsideration, pointing out that "speaking agent" and "zone of privilege" were inappropriate tests for attorney-client privilege, and that the court had not considered Plaintiffs' work product

² This objection was not controversial; the parties had always understood Bullard and Vasquez were Fontaine's partners. When GFP listed possible witnesses, it listed Bullard and Vasquez, "c/o Breskin Johnson & Townsend," and it noted their depositions through notices to counsel, rather than subpoenas. *See* CP 64.

³ This testimony surprised even defense counsel. *See* CP 131 ("Q: But you're an owner right? A: "I don't know if I would go that far as to say I'm an owner." Q: "Why do you say that?" A "Why do you say I'm an owner?" Q: "You're not?").

objection. CP 111. The court denied reconsideration with no analysis, and ordered all of the communications produced. CP 186.

The Court of Appeals affirmed in part. It held that the trial court's failure to make any factual findings regarding Bullard's and Vasquez's relationships with the Plaintiff companies should be construed against the Plaintiffs, that only abuse of discretion review applied, and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion with respect to privilege. Slip Op. at 6-8. It also held that the record was insufficient to determine whether counsel's communications with Bullard and Vasquez about the litigation qualified as work product, and remanded for further consideration. *Id.* at 9-12.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Applied the Wrong Standards of Review.

The Court of Appeals committed three errors with respect to the standard of review. First, it erroneously reviewed the trial court's decision for "abuse of discretion" rather than de novo. Second, it held that when a trial court fails to make a finding of fact, the fact is found against the party with the burden of proof. *Id.* at 3, 6-8. Both of these errors are contrary to decisions of this Court. Additionally, even under an abuse of discretion standard, because the trial court misapplied the law, its order should have been reversed.

1. The standard of review is de novo.

This Court has held many times in disputes over the application of attorney-client privilege and the work product doctrine that where a trial court's order is based solely on a paper record, appellate review is de novo. *See Morgan v. City of Fed. Way*, 166 Wn.2d 747, 753, 213 P.3d 596 (2009) (quoting *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 612, 963 P.2d 869 (1998)); *In re Firestorm*, 129 Wn.2d 130, 135, 916 P.2d 411 (1996).⁴

The Court of Appeals attempted to distinguish these cases, saying de novo review applies "only where there is undisputed evidence or the material evidence is all contained in the documents in the record." Slip Op. at 7 & n. 19. Yet, none of the cases say this, and there is no logical reason for this distinction.⁵ The standard of appellate review cannot depend on whether the evidence is "disputed" or "complete." *Id.* at 7-8. De novo review is appropriate on a purely paper record because the trial

⁻

⁴ See also United States v. Graf, 610 F.3d 1148, 1157 (9th Cir. 2010) ("A district court's conclusion regarding whether statements are protected by an individual attorney-client privilege is a mixed question of law and fact which this court reviews **independently and without deference to the district court**. We also review de novo the district court's rulings on the scope of the attorney-client privilege. The district court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error." (emphasis added, internal quotations and citations omitted)); United States v. Bauer, 132 F.3d 504, 507 (9th Cir. 1997) (same).

Even with respect to factual findings, deference is only possible when the trial court

actually makes factual findings. Otherwise, "the appellate court [can] not exercise any degree of deference to a trial court's finding, as no such finding even exist[s]." *Bryant v. Joseph Tree*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 222, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992).

⁵ In *Firestorm*, this Court expressly noted that the only evidence before it was in the form of affidavits, which were presumably disputed. 129 Wn.2d at 134.

court is in no better position than the appellate court to evaluate the evidence. *Limstrom*, 136 Wn.2d at 612.

2. When the trial court holds no hearing and makes no factual findings, the appellate court makes its own findings or remands for more evidence.

The Court of Appeals not only applied the wrong standard, it presumed factual findings to support the trial court's decision where none existed. Op. at p. 6-7. It did this based on a supposed "general rule" that the "absence of a finding of fact on an issue is 'presumptively a negative finding against the person with the burden of proof." Slip Op. at 6 (quoting *Morgan v. Briney*, 200 Wn. App. 380, 390-91, 403 P.3d 86 (2017); *Taplett v. Khela*, 60 Wn. App. 751, 759, 807 P.2d 885 (1991)).

Yet, this is not, in fact, a "general rule," but rather a "common law rule [that] must be selectively applied." *Douglas NW v. Bill O'Brien & Sons Constr.*, 64 Wn. App. 661, 682, 828 P. 2d 565 (1992). And it has only been applied where the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law after a bench trial. *See Morgan*, 200 Wn. App. at 386; *Douglas NW*, 64 Wn. App. at 673; *Taplett*, 60 Wn. App. at 753-54; *see also Smith v. King*, 106 Wn.2d 443, 451, 722 P.2d 796 (1986). In that context, the trial court has heard evidence, assessed credibility, and entered factual findings, so the absence of a specific finding may be "unintentional" and the intended finding relatively easy to surmise. *See*

Slip Op. at 7 (citing *Douglas NW*, 64 Wn. App. at 682).⁶ That is completely different than the situation here, where the trial court decided a matter by motion, without any hearing, and made no findings in support of its decision despite a clear factual dispute.

In this context, when an appellate court reviews a decision for which there are no factual findings, it has two options. It may "independently review the same evidence and make the required findings." *Firestorm*, 129 Wn.2d at 135; *Bryant*, 119 Wn.2d at 222. Alternatively, if the record is inadequate, it may remand the case so that additional evidence can be adduced. *Limstrom*, 136 Wn.2d at 612. Here, the Court of Appeals did neither. Slip Op. at 8.

The attorney-client privilege plays a critical role in our justice system; so critical that if counsel for one party improperly obtains privileged materials belonging to the other party, counsel may be subject to the "drastic remedy of disqualification." *In re Firestorm*, 129 Wn.2d at 140.⁷ Yet here, the courts below have ordered one party to divulge such materials to the other, without even truly assessing the claim of privilege,

-

⁶ The Court of Appeals misunderstood *Douglas NW*; the court in that case said that a finding against the party with the burden of proof could be made when there was a lack of any evidence presented, not when the evidence was disputed.

⁷ See also Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wash. 2d 769, 785, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012) ("communication in these relationships is so important that the law is willing to sacrifice its pursuit for the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth")

factually or legally. This Court should take review, announce the correct standard of review and applicable law, and either determine the facts and decide the matter or remand for additional fact-finding.

3. The trial court abused its discretion by misapplying the law.

Even if the trial court's ruling in this case was entitled to some form of deference, it is axiomatic that a misapplication of the law is an abuse of discretion. *Dix v. ICT Grp., Inc.*, 160 Wash. 2d 826, 833, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). The trial court's only rationale in ordering the documents produced were that Plaintiffs had not shown that Bullard and Vasquez "are speaking agents or within the zone of privilege." CP 107-08. The law is clear that the attorney-client privilege applies to more than "speaking agents" and there is no such thing as a "zone of privilege." Thus, the only legal conclusions the trial court explicitly made in support of its ruling are wrong.

B. This Court Should Take Review to Clarify the Scope of Corporate Attorney-Client Privilege After *Newman*.

This case presents two issues of law regarding attorney-client

٠

⁸ This Court defined the term "speaking agent" in *Wright v. Group Health*, 103 Wn.2d 192, 200-01, 691 P.2d 564 (1984), which did not involve privileged communications; the Court held that only "speaking agents" are parties whom the company can prohibit from talking to opposing counsel *ex parte. Id.* at 195, 197, 201. And there has been no "zone of privilege" test since *Upjohn* rejected the "control group test" and instead adopted a functional approach that extends the privilege beyond managers to anyone with whom the company's attorneys must speak to in order to advise and represent the company. *Upjohn*, 449 U.S. at 395, 397.

privilege the Court should clarify. *First*, while there may be a factual dispute about when Bullard and Vasquez had or would have an ownership stake in the Plaintiff companies, under a functional analysis, it should not matter. *Second*, while this Court has embraced *Upjohn*'s functional analysis of privilege in the corporate context, GFP argues that this Court significantly narrowed that analysis in *Newman*. Neither of the lower courts addressed this, and this Court should clarify that anyone who acted as an agent for the corporate client with respect to the matters in litigation—whether they were paid or not and whether they were technically employees or not—may communicate confidentially with the corporation's attorneys about the matters in litigation.

1. Individuals with a financial interest in the corporate client should be able to communicate confidentially with its attorneys about the corporation's legal disputes.

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