# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/4/2019 1:31 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96603-6

(Court of Appeals No. 77309-7)

### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAFE ACQUISITION, LLC, a Washington corporation; LUCIDY, LLC, a Washington corporation; and SCOTT FONTAINE, an individual, Plaintiffs - Petitioners,

V.

GF PROTECTION INC., d/b/a Guardian Fall Protection, a Washington corporation,
Defendant - Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shannon M. Jost (WSBA #32511) Krista L. Nelson (WSBA #45454) Mathew L. Harrington (WSBA #33276) STOKES LAWRENCE, P.S. 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, Washington 98101-2393 (206) 626-6000

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court should deny Appellants' Petition for Review because Appellants cannot establish that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1)—the only basis upon which Appellants seek review.

#### A. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review.

The Court of Appeals properly applied an abuse of discretion standard and construed the trial court's lack of specific findings against Appellants.

i. The correct standard of review for issues concerning the attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine is abuse of discretion.

The standard of review on a discovery order addressing production of allegedly privileged or protected communications is abuse of discretion. *Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 176 Wn.2d 686, 694, 295 P.3d 239 (2013). Whether an attorney-client relationship exists is a question of fact. *Dietz v. Doe*, 131 Wn.2d 835, 844, 935 P.2d 611 (1997). The burden of persuasion is on the party seeking protection from disclosure. *Cedell*, 176 Wn.2d at 696. A trial court's factual findings should not be disturbed on appeal unless unsupported by the trial court record. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 819, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). The Court of Appeals properly applied an abuse of discretion standard and

determined that "the [trial] court considered both parties' detailed arguments regarding attorney-client privilege and concluded that SAFE failed to carry its burden in invoking the privilege." *SAFE Acquisition, LLC v. GF Prot. Inc.*, No. 77309-7-I \*4, 2018 WL 5806609 \*2 (Wash. App. Nov. 5, 2018) (unpublished).

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Appellants' reliance on cases that applied a de novo standard of review because the standard of review is clear under Cedell. The cases Appellants relied on did not concern discovery matters like the one at issue here, and they also involved instances in which the evidence was undisputed and limited to For example, In re Firestorm 1991 involved written documents. undisputed evidence that consisted solely of written documents in the record. 129 Wn.2d 130, 134-35, 916 P.2d 411 (1996). The Firestorm court acknowledged an appellate court may independently review and make findings, if necessary, where the evidence was limited to written documents before the court. Id. at 135. In this case, the posture is different because the evidence included not only deposition testimony, but also e-mails and other communications that are not part of the court record at all. Moreover, the Firestorm trial court did not make any conclusions of law and the question before the court was purely one of law. Here, the trial court decided a question of fact. *Dietz*, 131 Wn.2d at 844.<sup>4</sup>

ii. The general rule is that the absence of an express finding at the trial court is presumed to be a negative finding against the party with the burden of proof.

The trial court expressly found that Appellants failed to establish an attorney-client relationship, a determination that was necessarily predicated on an underlying determination that Appellants were neither owners, employees, nor independent contractors of SAFE or Lucidy. The Court of Appeals properly construed the lack of express factual findings as a negative finding against Appellants because Appellants had the burden of proof, which the trial court unambiguously determined Appellants failed to meet. When there is not an express finding of fact, the general rule is to presume a negative finding against the party with the burden of proof. *See, e.g., Smith v. King,* 106 Wn.2d 443, 451, 722 P.2d 796 (1986); *Goldberg v. Sanglier,* 96 Wn.2d 874, 880, 639 P.2d 1347, (1982); *Morgan v. Briney,* 200 Wn. App. 380, 390-91, 403 P.3d 86 (2017), *review denied,* 190 Wn.2d 1023 (2018). This general rule applies where a trial court's finding is predicated on the determination of an underlying fact. *See* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See also Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 210, 222, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992) (evidence consisted solely of written documents and trial court failed to make any factual or legal finding). The Public Records Act cases Appellants rely on are likewise inapposite because this case involved review of a discovery order, and Washington law is clear that the standard of review on a discovery order addressing production of allegedly privileged or protected communications is abuse of discretion. Cedell, 176 Wn.2d at 694.

Goldberg, 96 Wn.2d at 880. While Appellants contend this rule applies only in cases following a bench trial, there is no support for this distinction.<sup>5</sup>

As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, a narrow exception to the general rule that presumes a negative finding against the party with the burden of proof exists only if there is ample evidence to support a *missing finding*, and the evidence, when viewed as a whole, demonstrates the lack of specific finding was inadvertent. *Douglas Nw., Inc. v. Bill O'Brien & Sons Constr., Inc.*, 64 Wn. App. 661, 682, 828 P.2d 565 (1992). Here, there was no missing finding and no evidence to suggest the lack of an express finding about Mr. Vasquez and Mr. Bullard's relationship to SAFE and Lucidy was inadvertent. The trial court determined Appellants failed to meet their burden in establishing that the attorney-client privilege applied, and necessarily rejected finding that both men were owners, employees, or independent contractors of SAFE or Lucidy.

#### B. The Court of Appeals properly applied *Newman*.

In order for this Court to take review, Appellants must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals misapplied the law. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Moreover, a contrary ruling would cause litigants to flood trial courts with proposed orders asking for detailed findings of fact and require trial courts to make detailed findings of fact on all discovery orders, which is neither practical nor necessary.

Appellants cannot meet this burden because the Court of Appeals properly applied *Newman*, 186 Wn.2d 769.

# i. A potential future financial interest alone is an insufficient basis upon which to conclude an attorney-client relationship exists.

The mere possibility that an individual might one day acquire a financial interest in a corporation is not a sufficient basis upon which to conclude the individual's communications with corporate counsel are protected by the attorney-client privilege. Appellants advance this argument for the first time in their Petition, without any legal support and in deviation from established precedent.

This Court recently considered in Newman whether communications between corporate counsel and former employees should be covered by the attorney-client privilege, and concluded that "Upjohn does not justify applying the attorney-client privilege outside the employer-employee relationship." *Id.* at 776. Among the Court's reasons were the preservation of a predictable legal framework and recognition of the distinction between communications that occur during employment which continue to be privileged after the agency relationship ends—and communications that occur outside the employment relationship, which are not privileged. Id. at 782-83. The same rationale applies here, with even more force, where Mr. Vasquez and Mr. Bullard were never employees, owners, or independent contractors, and it is undisputed they do not hold any financial interest in the corporations.

ii. Under Washington law, the attorney-client privilege is narrow and the flexible approach articulated in *Upjohn* is limited to attorney-client communications taking place within the corporate employment relationship.

As an initial matter, the Court should not consider Appellants' argument that communications with Mr. Vasquez and Mr. Bullard are privileged based on a principal-agent theory because this theory was raised for the first time on appeal. *See* RAP 2.5(a); *Karlberg v. Otten*, 167 Wn. App. 522, 531, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012) (courts generally do not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal).

Notwithstanding Appellants' failure to raise this argument below, Washington law does not support Appellants' argument, and the Court of Appeals' application of *Newman* was correct. In Washington, "the attorney-client privilege does not automatically shield any conversation with any attorney." *Newman*, 186 Wn.2d at 777. Rather, it is "a narrow privilege and protects only communications and advice between attorney and client." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). In 2016, this Court "conclude[d] *Upjohn* does not justify applying the attorney-client privilege outside the employer-employee relationship." *Id.* at 776. Yet Appellants now ask this Court to effectively reverse *Newman* by declaring that under

*Upjohn*, the attorney-client privilege extends to the "functional equivalent of employees," including those persons who were never employees, independent contractors, nor owners of the corporate client, and have no authority to bind the corporation. The Court should reject Appellants' invitation to reverse this Court's precedent.

First, *Upjohn* presupposes an employer-employee relationship and *Newman* expressly refused to extend *Upjohn* to communications beyond the employer-employee relationship.<sup>6</sup> There is no reason the Court should take review of this issue now, when the law is clearly articulated.

Next, the cases from outside jurisdictions Appellants cite in support of their "functional equivalent of employee" argument are inapposite because they contradict *Newman's* instruction that the attorney-client privilege is "a narrow privilege" and "does not automatically shield any conversation with any attorney." 186 Wn.2d at 777 (citation omitted). For example, *United States v. Graf*, 610 F.3d 1148, 1158-59 (9th Cir. 2010), is directly at odds with *Newman* because it adopted the reasoning of *In re Bieter Co.*, 16 F.3d 929 (8th Cir. 1994), because "too narrow" a

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "The flexible approach articulated in *Upjohn* presupposed attorney-client communications taking place within the corporate employment relationship. *Upjohn*, 440 U.S. at 389, 101 S. Ct. 677 (the purpose of the attorney-client privilege is 'to encourage full and frank communication between attorneys and their clients'). . . . We decline to expand the privilege to communications outside the employer-employee relationship because former employees categorically differ from current employees with respect to the concerns identified in *Upjohn*[.]" *Newman*, 186 Wn.2d at 780-81 (citations omitted).

definition of "client representative" would lead to attorneys not being able to confer confidentially with non-employees. *Newman* expressly rejects this reasoning by declining to extend the attorney-client privilege to non-employees. Plaintiffs' summary of *Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. v. City of Marysville*, 188 Wn. App. 695, 720, 354 P.3d 249 (2015), is misstated. *See* Petition at 14 n. 12. *Cedar Grove* did not hold that an independent contractor was the functional equivalent of a city employee for privilege purposes; rather, *Cedar Grove* found that documents in possession by a contractor were subject to Washington's Public Records Act.<sup>7</sup>

While Appellants argue communications with Mr. Vasquez and Mr. Bullard are subject to the attorney-client privilege because counsel was required to communicate with them in order to advise the companies, this too is contrary to Washington law. *Newman* considered and rejected that same argument, making clear that the privilege does not automatically extend to anyone with whom the company's attorneys must speak in order to advise the company. 186 Wn.2d at 782-83.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The court reasoned that the city "cite[d] no authority to support its assertion that a government may claim that a contractor is the functional equivalent of an employee in order to assert attorney-client privilege, while simultaneously claiming that documents generated by these de facto employees in the scope of their de facto public employment are not public records for purposes of the PRA." *Id.* at 719. Moreover, it is undisputed that GFP—not SAFE or Lucidy—hired and paid Mr. Bullard and Mr. Vasquez as independent contractors.

Moreover, the record does not support an agency relationship between Appellants and either Mr. Bullard or Mr. Vasquez, and even if it did, such a relationship would not automatically give rise to an attorneyclient relationship. Appellants incorrectly assert that Newman contemplates some situations in which the privilege would extend to former employees based on an agency theory. To the contrary, Newman recognized that the agency relationship generally terminates when the employer-employee relationship ends, the former employee loses the ability to bind the corporation, and no longer owes duties of loyalty, obedience, and confidentiality. Id. at 780. Mere involvement with a corporate entity, without an ability to legally bind the company, is insufficient. Nor can a corporation claim privilege as to an individual with no speaking authority to bind the corporation in an evidentiary sense. Wright ex rel. Wright v. Group Health Hosp., 103 Wn.2d 192, 200, 691 P.2d 564 (1984). Neither Mr. Vasquez nor Mr. Bullard could bind SAFE or Lucidy, or otherwise act on their behalf given that they never served as owners, employees, or independent contractors. In fact, Mr. Vasquez expressly testified that he had no authority to bind the company.

"Refusing to extend the corporate attorney-client privilege articulated in *Upjohn* beyond the employer-employee relationship

preserves a predicable legal framework" and the Court of Appeals decision should not be disturbed. *Newman*, 186 Wn.2d at 782.

# C. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to categorically declare an amorphous body of unknown communications as work product.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the law when it determined that it could not make a categorical determination as to whether communications were protected by the work product doctrine when it lacked information about those communications in the record.<sup>8</sup>

The burden was on Appellants to "describe the nature of the documents, communications, or tangible things not produced or disclosed" to enable other parties and the court to assess the work product claim. *Gerber v. Down E. Cmty. Hosp.*, 266 F.R.D. 29, 32 (D. Me. 2010) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(5)(A)). The record includes a single conclusory statement in the declaration of attorney Daniel Johnson that states "[a]ll of my communications with Mike Vasquez or Brock Bullard relating to the subject matter of this case have been for or the purpose of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> GFP contends that the Court of Appeals should have affirmed the trial court's determination that the communications were not protected by the work product doctrine; however, GFP is not seeking review of this issue. Should this Court take review, GFP reserves its rights to argue that the Court should affirm the trial court's determination on the work product issue as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> While Appellants argue GFP failed to establish substantial need, *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998), acknowledges that it is only once materials are determined to be covered by the work product doctrine that the party seeking disclosure must establish a substantial need. There was no requirement for GFP to establish substantial need because Appellants failed to meet their initial burden.

advising and representing Plaintiffs Scott Fontaine, SAFE LLC, and/or Lucidy LLC." CP at 120. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that it "must have more than mere recitations of the definition of work product or other 'work product terms and catchphrases' when determining whether materials were prepared in anticipation of litigation." No. 77309-7-I \*10, 2018 WL 5806609 \*4 (citing *Estate of Dempsey ex rel. Smith v. Spokane Wash. Hosp. Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 628, 639, 406 P.3d 1162 (2017)).

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